
MEMORANDUM 

TO: Town Council  

FROM: David E. Cox, Town Manager  

DATE: April 7, 2022 

SUBJECT: Agenda Information – 4/12/2022 

The following is additional or summary information regarding matters on the upcoming Town 
Council Agenda.  The numbering below follows the agenda, and some routine or self-
explanatory items are not discussed in this memo.  As you review your packet materials, please 
do not hesitate to contact the appropriate staff member or me prior to the Council meeting 
with any questions or concerns.  Often, these conversations can help staff and me be prepared 
for the Council meeting and be ready to facilitate a more productive and efficient meeting for 
everyone.  

6 Bids and Contracts 
6a Contract for Gildersleeve Site Improvements – The Council is asked to review and 
approve the award of a contract to Priority Landscaping of Brookfield for the construction of 
the access road on the WPCA wastewater treatment plant property for Eversource related to 
Air Line Trail improvements in this area.  Bids were received from five companies and Priority 
Landscaping provided the lowest proposal at $56,000.  The consulting engineer has evaluated 
the company through its references and is recommending the contract award.  As a reminder, 
construction of the access road for Eversource allows it to remove its 13 poles from the 
unfinished portion of the Air Line Trail and relocate them to the new route across the WPCA 
property.  The cost of the work is divided between the Town ($20,000 Capital Funds) and DEEP 
($40,000) and the Town’s costs are included in any cost share required of the Town for the 
larger Air Line Trail project this work supports. 

Recommendation: Adopt a motion to approve award of a contract to Priority 
Landscaping in the amount of $56,000 

7 Resolutions/Ordinances/Policies/Proclamations 
7b Ordinance Regarding Limited Maintenance on Certain Private Roads – The Council is 
asked to review a revised version of the Ordinance, which has been modified in response to 
discussion at the last Council meeting.  Specifically, the language related to “severe disrepair” 
has been removed and a provision added that describes services that are considered beyond 
the normal work that would be provided by the Town but that could be authorized by the Town 



Town Council - Agenda Information – 4/12/2022 
April 7, 2022 
Page 2 

Council.  Additionally, language addressing the Town’s liability for the condition of the road, 
which it does not own, is also included.  The ordinance both authorizes and directs the Public 
Works Director to undertake certain maintenance activities on the listed private roads in a 
manner similar to other similarly situated Town roads.  The ordinance also allows that the 
Council could determine to undertake additional work.  The language currently indicates that 
any additional work would be done at the owners’ prior agreement and expense. 

Recommendation:  Review the Ordinance and set the public hearing for the next regular 
Council meeting. 

7c Resolution correcting the acceptance of Sunrise Lane – The Council is asked to consider 
actions to correct the acceptance of Sunrise Lane in the Skyline Estates Subdivision.  This road 
was accepted in 2019 and, as Planning and Zoning Official DeCarli’s memo indicates, an error 
was made in the acceptance.  An incorrect amount of Right of Way was accepted due to a 
change that was made to the road during development.  The end of the cul de sac was 
extended in a revision to the subdivision and the wrong reference was used in the acceptance.  
This resolution will accept the additional Right of Way and will allow properties to be correctly 
transferred.  In addition to the acceptance of additional Right of Way, the Town is being asked 
to abandon the portions of the former cul de sac that are not needed for the roadway.  In 
accordance with State Law, that process will require some notifications and postings that have 
longer lead times.  The Council will be asked to consider those matters in May. 

Recommendation:  Approve the Resolution accepting the correct Right of Way and 
improvements. 

9 New Business 
9a Police Department General Order regarding Traffic Accident Investigation – The 
Council is asked to consider an update to the Police Department’s General Order 5.8 Traffic 
Accident Investigation.  As described in Police Chief Woessner’s memo, the change, which is 
required by the Police Officer Standards and Training Council (POSTC), provides that an Officer 
must have persons involved in a crash that are suspected to be under the influence of alcohol 
or drugs tested by a Drug Recognition Expert. 

Recommendation:  Approve the updated Policy. 



Town Council - Agenda Information – 4/12/2022 
April 7, 2022 
Page 3 

9b Town Hall location on a private road – The Council will be asked to consider and discuss 
the fact that the Town Hall is located on a parcel that has its primary access from a private road 
(Edgewater Circle).  While the Town does have direct access to Rt 66, that access is restricted by 
the State to use only by the Police Department.  General traffic to the Town Hall comes in via 
the private subdivision road.  The Town, like all other property owners in the development, 
pays its portion of the annual and future maintenance costs of the road through a fee paid 
monthly to the development’s owners. 

Recommendation:  Discuss the matter. 

9c Transmittal of the FY 23 Town Budget – The Council will officially receive the FY 23 
Annual Town Budget from the Board of Finance prior to this meeting.  The Board of Finance 
made some reductions to the budget including changes to the Board of Education and General 
Government portions.  Additionally, the Board of Finance has made its recommendation on the 
FY 23 Capital Improvement Plan, which included a small reduction.  The Council will be asked to 
give formal consideration to the budget and the related resolutions for the Town Meeting and 
referendum at its next meeting on April 26.  No action will be necessary at this meeting on 
Tuesday. 

The remainder of the items are of a routine nature, in the sole purview of the Council or are 
announcements.  Please contact me or the appropriate staff member with questions or 
concerns. 



Town Council Regular Meeting 1 3/22/2022 Minutes 

Town of East Hampton 
Town Council Regular Meeting 

Tuesday, March 22, 2022 
Town Hall Council Chambers and Zoom 

MINUTES 

Present: Chairman Mark Philhower, Vice Chairman Tim Feegel, Council Members Pete Brown, 
Brandon Goff, Eric Peterson, Kevin Reich, and Alison Walck and Town Manager David Cox. 

Call to Order & Pledge of Allegiance 
Chairman Philhower called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. in the Town Hall Council Chambers and 
via Zoom. 

Adoption of Agenda 
A motion was made by Ms. Walck, seconded by Mr. Peterson, to adopt the agenda as submitted. Voted 
(7-0). 

Approval of Minutes 
 A motion was made by Ms. Walck, seconded by Mr. Peterson, to approve the minutes of the Town 
Council Regular Meeting of March 8, 2022 as written. Voted (7-0) 

Public Remarks 
Mike Piergalini, 16 Fern Lane, read aloud a letter sent to the Town Manager and Town Council from 
an attorney about the ordinance change for private roads in town. The letter refutes what Attorney 
Carella has stated about Fern Lane and the ordinance pertaining to said road. Mr. Piergalini also stated 
that the ordinance would decrease the values of the properties and homes on the road. He asked why 
the town performed assessments and made the homeowners pull permits for their houses. He states 
that if the Town and Town Council moves forward with the Ordinance the residents have a letter with 
intent to sue and they will bring the Town Council to court over the matter. 

Ann McLaughlin, 85 North Main Street, gave a brief history on the Yellow Ribbon tree in the Village 
Center. She mentioned when soldiers came back from Afghanistan or Iraq a yellow ribbon was tied 
around a part of the tree giving it its name. She asks permission to use the tree to honor Red McKinney 
during the Paint the Town Red/Old Home Day celebration. The memorial would be put up a couple 
days before Old Home Day and would be taken down a few days after. She states that the tree won’t 
be damaged by the display and the sightlines for drivers won’t be obstructed.  

Lon Fishman, 13 Fern Lane, wanted to thank the Town Council for considering private roads like Fern 
Lane to come to an agreement on the Ordinance. He spoke on his history and experiences in East 
Hampton in his 40 years of living in town. In the past, the town has taken care of the road. They filled 
in potholes, plowed during the winter, and even paved when the road was in need of it. He asks why 
that help couldn’t be grandfathered into the new Ordinance. 

Pam Hatfield, 37 Fern Lane, wanted to express her agreement with the other public speakers about the 
Ordinance that would affect Fern Lane. She expressed her thanks to the Town Council for the new 
Ordinance; but she feels that it falls short. She wants to know how the road will be maintained and 

Agenda Item 3a



Town Council Regular Meeting 2 3/22/2022 Minutes 

cared for if the Ordinance is passed. She states that there is a long-documented history of the town 
maintaining the road. She also states that the town allowed 2 sub-divisions to be built and an expansion 
of the road. She asks the Council members to consider the safety of the public and the residents of the 
street when voting on the Ordinance. 

Presentations 
None 

Bids & Contracts 
None 

Resolution/ Ordinances/ Policies/ Proclamation 
Consideration of a Resolution for the Allocation of Additional American Rescue Plan Funds 
The town wants to allocate $500,000 of the State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (SLFRF) lost 
revenue distribution for the purpose of funding the capital cost and construction engineering for three 
force main projects. The three locations for the projects would be Pine Trail, Bay Road, and 
Maplewood Drive. The members briefly discussed the resolution. 

A motion was made by Mr. Feegel, seconded by Ms. Walck, to approve the allocation of the $500,000 
for the three (3) force main project resolution on Pine Trail, Maplewood Drive, and Bay Road as 
written. Voted (7-0) 

Review and Set Public Hearing for an Ordinance Amending Chapter 273 of the Code of the 
Town of East Hampton Regarding Streets and Sidewalks Concerning Limited Maintenance of 
Private Roads 
The ordinance would solidify protecting the road against being damaged. The Council members 
suggested adding a liability clause into the draft ordinance. There was discussion of taking out the part 
stating that if the road is too far gone the residents are on their own. This change would be to help 
reassure the residents that the town isn’t giving up on the road or those living on the road. The town 
wants the road to be passable/ drivable to make travel in town easier. The surface integrity of the road 
would only need to meet town’s regulations. 

A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Feegel, to have the Public Hearing for the 
Ordinance for the next Town Council meeting at 6 p.m. This motion was tabled. 

A motion was made by Mr. Brown, seconded by Ms. Walck, to table the Public Hearing until the 
Ordinance is revised with the changes made in the discussion. Voted (7-0) 

Continued Business 
Sub-Committee Reports & Updates 
Mr. Brown reported that Environmental Partners will be testing existing wells for quality and quantity 
of water. The testing will be held in late March or early April. They plan to test the areas of Salmon 
River, Hurd Park, Pine Brook, and Oakum Dock. 

Mr. Reich reported that Mr. Jeffrey Leith, a member of the High School Athletic Fields Committee, 
sadly passed away. It was a tremendous loss to the community and to his family. There was a meeting 
held last Thursday. The members want to wait on warmer weather to start scheduling events. There 



 
Town Council Regular Meeting  3 3/22/2022 Minutes  

was discussion of possibly installing temporary lines on the tennis court. The members also discussed 
when to resurface the tennis court and track since it would take a couple days with good weather 
needed. The committee gave approval to use the tennis court and track without lines to let students 
practice in anticipation of the sports season. The members allowed the baseball team to use the 
renovated baseball field and the first game is this upcoming weekend. The commission approved using 
some budget funds to address an issue with the right baseball field fall line. Sod was installed on the 
sides instead of seeding. The sod was applied around the field to be properly covered in grass when 
the games start up. The next meeting will be next Thursday, April 7 at 3 P.M.  
 
There will be a Capital meeting on Monday, March 28th at 6:30 P.M. 
 
New Business 
A motion was made by Mr. Philhower, seconded by Ms. Walck, to add item (b) to address Ms. 
McLaughlin’s request from public remarks. Voted (7-0) 
 
Consideration and Action on an RFP for Edgerton Street Sidewalks 
Matt Walsh, Public Works Director, spoke to the Council members about the RFP for the Edgerton 
Street sidewalk project. About 800 feet of sidewalk needs to be replaced. The project needs a 
contractor before the sidewalks are paved. The timeframe of the project would be 3 weeks if Public 
Works is handling the job. That is the reason why the project is being handed over to a contractor. 
Fixing the drainage pipe will be done during paving of the sidewalk to minimize the impact on the 
sidewalks as much as possible.  
 
A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Feegel, to approve the RFP for the Edgerton Street 
Sidewalk as submitted. Voted (7-0) 
 
Memorial Honoring Red McKinney During Old Home Day 
A memorial for Red McKinney will be placed around the Yellow Ribbon Tree in the Village Center 
during the Old Home Day event. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Goff, seconded by Mr. Reich, to approve the memorial and the use of the 
Yellow Ribbon Tree. Voted (7-0) 
 
Town Manager Report 
Mr. Cox provided his written report for the Council members which will be included with the minutes 
filed in the Town Clerk’s Office. Mr. Cox wanted to address two items to the members. The Police 
Department has become part of the work being done under a grant received by The Department of 
Mental Health and Addiction Services for this region. The coordinator met with someone who is 
providing services to individuals who are struggling with drug addiction. The Police Department’s 
involvement allows them to connect individuals and their families they come across during calls with 
the free services to help put them on a recovery path. The Board of Finance increased the unused fund 
balance policy by 10-12% depending on what is being spent on and how much money is being 
requested. The target is to maintain an undesignated fund balance in that range. This will make sure 
the town is financially healthy. This plays a factor with the bonding process, with investing, and for 
cash flow. 
 
  



Town Council Regular Meeting 4 3/22/2022 Minutes 

Appointments 
None 

Tax Refunds 
A motion was made by Ms. Walck, seconded by Mr. Goff, to approve tax refunds in the amount of 
$1,120.66. Voted (7-0) 

Public Remarks 
None 

Communications, Correspondence & Announcement 
None 

Adjournment 
A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Peterson, to adjourn the meeting at 7:29 pm. 
Voted (7-0) 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Katrina Aligata 
Recording Clerk 



 
41 Sequin Drive, Glastonbury, CT 06033 · Office: (860) 633-8770 · Fax: 860.633.5971 · BandLct.com

 

 

 
 
 

April 4, 2022 

Mr. David Cox
East Hampton Town Manager 
1 Community Drive 
East Hampton, CT 06424 

Re: Gildersleeve Drive Site Improvements , East Hampton, CT 

Dear Mr. Cox: 

Barton and Loguidice, LLC. has completed a review of the bids submitted for the above referenced 
project. Enclosed please find the project bid tabulation. 

As shown in the bid tabulation, Priority Landscaping, LLC submitted the lowest total bid for 
$56,000.00. 

Based upon their submission of the lowest total bid and the positive feedback that we have received from 
their references, B&L recommends that the Town of East Hampton award the Gildersleeve Drive Site 
Improvements contract to Priority Landscaping, LLC. 

If you have any questions regarding the above or the enclosed information, please don’t hesitate to contact 
me at (860) 633-8770. 

Sincerely, 

Kevin R. Grindle, ASLA, P.L.A. 
Associate / Project Manager 

Enc. Bid Tabulation 

Cc: Jeremy Hall, Director, East Hampton Parks & Recreation 

Agenda Item 6a



East Hampton ‐ Gildersleeve Drive Bid Opening
3/16/22 ‐ 2:00 pm

Company Lump Sum Bid

Butler Construction $80,540.00

Priority Landscaping $56,000.00

Suchocki Construction $62,500.00

American Industries $150,975.00

WND Construction $72,500.00



258 Whisconier Road Brookfield Connecticut 06804  Phone – 203.546.8478 
Website: www.prioritylandscapingct.com 
Email: prioritylandscapingllc@gmail.com        

Gildersleeve Drive Site Improvements 
East Hampton, CT  

Schedule of Values 
April 7, 2022 

The table below is Schedule of values for the Guildersleeve Drive Site Improvement Project. 
The project is expected to take less than one month to complete.  

Mobilization $  6,000.00 
Erosion Control $  5,000.00 
Clearing and Grubbing $20,000.00 
Grading $10,000.00 
Road and Pad Installation $15,000.00 
Project Total $56,000.00 

Ryan Ackell 
Managing Member 
Priority Landscaping LLC 
Direct Line: 203-770-8228 





















DANIEL SARGENT 

WHEREAS, Daniel Sargent began his career with the Town of East Hampton in April, 1995 in the Public Works 
Department as a Maintainer II/Mechanic’s Aid; and 

WHEREAS, after displaying his “can do” attitude and hard work, Daniel Sargent was promoted to Maintainer 
III in November, 2013; and 

WHEREAS, Daniel Sargent, throughout his 27 year career in the Public Works Department, has demonstrated 
an excellent work ethic and positive attitude, and has always strived to cheerfully provide the best service to the 
residents of East Hampton. 

NOW, THEREFORE, WE THE EAST HAMPTON TOWN COUNCIL, on behalf of the citizens of East Hampton, 
congratulate Daniel Sargent on his retirement, thank him for his many years of services to the Town, and extend 
to him our best wishes for an enjoyable retirement with his family and friends. 

EAST HAMPTON TOWN COUNCIL 

Mark Philhower, Chairman Tim Feegel, Vice Chairman 

James Brown Brandon Goff 

Eric Peterson Kevin Reich 

Alison Walck Dated this 12TH day of April, 2022 

Agenda Item 7a



Ordinance No. 2022.01 
Page 1 of 4 

Town of East Hampton 
Middlesex County, Connecticut 

DRAFT – March 14April 4, 2022 

Ordinance No. 2022.01 

An Ordinance Amending Chapter 273 of the Code of the Town of East 
Hampton Regarding Streets and Sidewalks Concerning Limited Maintenance 

of Private Roads 

Pursuant to Chapter II of the East Hampton Town Charter, and Conn. Gen. Statute Section 
7-148(c)(6)(C), the East Hampton Town Council hereby adopts the following Ordinance 
Concerning Limited Maintenance of Private Roads.  

Section 1: Chapter 273 of the Code of the Town of East Hampton is hereby amended by the 
creation and addition of Article VI regarding Private Roads as follows: 

ARTICLE VI  Private Roads 

273-15  Purpose. 

Within the Town of East Hampton there currently exist many privately owned rights of way, 
streets, lanes, drives and roads (collectively referred to herein as “Private Roads”). Such Private 
Roads have been established over many years of use by adjoining property owners, which provide 
vehicular access for the property owners, and residents, along such Private Roads. Such Private 
Roads have not been accepted by the Town as public roads, and historically have not been 
maintained by the owners, or the abutting owners, of the Private Road to Town of East Hampton 
Street Standards.  As a result, some of these Private Roads have deteriorated and are unsafe for 
public or private passage.  In order to ensure the safety of the property owners, residents, and the 
public who travel over such Private Roads, and to ensure safe passage of emergency vehicles, 
service vehicles, vendors vehicles, and other critical vehicles, and the safe passage of invitees and 
guests of residents who live along such Private Roads, the Town has determined that it is in the 
public interest that limited maintenance of such Private Roads is desirable and necessary. This 
ordinance shall govern the manner in which the Town may provide certain limited maintenance to 
such Private Roads.  

273-16  Private Roads approved for limited maintenance. 

A. The Public Works Department is authorized and directed to provide those limited maintenance 
services described in Section 273-17 of this chapter for those Private Roads as may be 
determined to require limited maintenance by the Town Council, as follows: 

ROAD NAME Length and Location 

Boulder Road 1150’ Lake Drive to terminus 
Brook Trail 635’ Pine Trail to terminus 
Byron Road 100’ Browning Drive to terminus 

Agenda Item 7b



Ordinance No. 2022.01 
Page 2 of 4 

Day Point Road 656’  Old Marlborough Road to 
pavement end 

Fern Lane 1585’ Middle Haddam Road to turn 
around 

Green Road 576’ Hog Hill to turn around 
Green Road 240’ Middle Haddam Road to turn 

around 
Hale Road 588’ Lake Drive to turn around 

Laurel Trail 341’ Pine Trail to driveway at #18 
Markham Lane 390’ East High Street to turn 

around 
Mountain Trail 535’ Pine Trail to driveway at #26 
O'Neill Lane 750’ Old Marlborough Road to turn 

around 
Park Road 161’ Poe Road to pavement end 
Pine Trail 1057’ East High Street to turn 

around 
Poe Road 155’  Byron Road to Park Road 

Railroad Avenue 725’ Watrous Street to turn around 
Spellman Point Road 1175’ Bay Road to the south 

Starr Place 467’ Summit Street to turn around 
Tennyson Road 529’ Mark Twain Drive to Whittier 

Road 
West Avenue 302’ West Street to driveway at 

#35 

 

B.  Maintenance services shall be provided for the Private Roads listed in this section unless such 
Private Road is determined to be in a state of Severe Disrepair.  The term Severe Disrepair 
shall mean a condition of the roadway surface that is no longer reasonably serviceable by the 
activities contemplated in section 273-17 A of this chapter and in need of a full surface 
replacement or similar service or full depth/subsurface repairs. The Director of Public Works 
shall inspect, or cause to be inspected, the approved Private Roads and shall determine if they 
are Severe Disrepair and any such determination shall be reported to the Town Council for its 
concurrence. If an approved Private Road is deemed to be in a state of Severe Disrepair by the 
Town Council, no maintenance services shall be provided by the town until after such time as 
the owners, or abutting owners, of the Private Road, as the case may be, properly correct, or 
cause to be corrected, the surface condition or conditions, at their sole cost and expense.  

C.  The Private Roads, or parts thereof, approved for maintenance shall be shown on a map which 
shall be available for public inspection in the town clerk's office. The Town Council may 
amend the list of approved Private Roads eligible for limited maintenance, by adding or 
removing such Private Roads from the list, in the manner prescribed in the Town Charter for 
the adoption of ordinances. 

273-17  Limited Maintenance services to be provided.  



Ordinance No. 2022.01 
Page 3 of 4 

A.  The maintenance services provided under section 273-16 of this chapter shall be limited to 
the following services as these services may be typically applied to similar public roads at the 
discretion of the Public Works Director:  
(1)   Snow plowing and deicing activities;  
(2)   Sweeping;  
(3)   Surface patching including, but not limited to, pothole repair and repairs involving 

surface repaving of small segments of a given roadway;  
(4)   Installation and maintenance of any “official traffic-control devices” and “traffic 

control sign” and which are approved by the “traffic authority” all as defined in Conn. 
Gen. Stat. 14-297.  

B.  The maintenance services provided under section 273-16 of this chapter are not intended to 
include broad resurfacing of large segments of a given roadway, improvements involving 
significant repairs of subsurface road structure, installation or modification of drainage, 
application of chip seal or other similar surface restoration applications to a full roadway or 
large segments of a given roadway or other similar reconstruction or rehabilitation activities 
unless such activities are specifically authorized by the Town Council as described in section 
273-17.C. 

C. Upon the request of the owners of, or those property owners abutting the Private Road, and if 
the town considers it necessary to public safety or otherwise desirable to provide additional 
work, services or improvements to the Private Roads listed in this ordinance, then such work, 
services or improvements may be provided by the town or its designees provided a written 
agreement is executed between the town and the owners of the land upon which the road rests, 
or which the road benefits, concerning the scope of such work, services or improvements, and 
shall be at the sole cost and expense of such owners. The town shall not provide any additional 
work, service or improvements unless the written agreement apportions costs among the 
owners of, or those property owners abutting, the Private Road.  

273-18  Acceptance for maintenance not to be construed as acceptance as public highway.  

Approval of a Private Road for the limited maintenance set forth in this ordinance, and/or 
approval of additional work, services, or improvements under section 273-17 of this chapter shall 
not be considered acceptance of that Private Road as a public highway.  

273-19  Liability of Town. 

Notwithstanding the provisions of C.G.S. § 13a-149 or any other general statute or special 
act, the Town of East Hampton shall not be liable for personal injury or property damage caused 
by the condition of a Private Road.  Nothing in this section shall insulate the Town of East 
Hampton from liability for its affirmative acts. 

273-20 Continued Validity of Street Standards.  

Nothing in this article shall be construed to modify or change any of the requirements set 
forth by the town planning and zoning commission, or the Town of East Hampton Street 
Standards, for the acceptance of new, and the maintenance and repair of existing, Town roads.  
 

https://ecode360.com/28412178?highlight=sidewalks&searchId=9133004750216689#28412178


Ordinance No. 2022.01 
Page 4 of 4 

Section 2: This ordinance is effective immediately upon its adoption and publication in 
accordance with Connecticut Statutes. 

Approved this ____ day of _____________, 2022. 

TOWN COUNCIL 

___________________________________ 
Mark Philhower, Chairperson 

ATTEST 

_________________________________ 
Kelly Bilodeau, Town Clerk



Ordinance No. 2022.01 
Page 1 of 3 

Town of East Hampton 
Middlesex County, Connecticut 

DRAFT – April 4, 2022 

Ordinance No. 2022.01 

An Ordinance Amending Chapter 273 of the Code of the Town of East 
Hampton Regarding Streets and Sidewalks Concerning Limited Maintenance 

of Private Roads 

Pursuant to Chapter II of the East Hampton Town Charter, and Conn. Gen. Statute Section 
7-148(c)(6)(C), the East Hampton Town Council hereby adopts the following Ordinance 
Concerning Limited Maintenance of Private Roads.  

Section 1: Chapter 273 of the Code of the Town of East Hampton is hereby amended by the 
creation and addition of Article VI regarding Private Roads as follows: 

ARTICLE VI  Private Roads 

273-15  Purpose. 

Within the Town of East Hampton there currently exist many privately owned rights of way, 
streets, lanes, drives and roads (collectively referred to herein as “Private Roads”). Such Private 
Roads have been established over many years of use by adjoining property owners, which provide 
vehicular access for the property owners, and residents, along such Private Roads. Such Private 
Roads have not been accepted by the Town as public roads, and historically have not been 
maintained by the owners, or the abutting owners, of the Private Road to Town of East Hampton 
Street Standards.  As a result, some of these Private Roads have deteriorated and are unsafe for 
public or private passage.  In order to ensure the safety of the property owners, residents, and the 
public who travel over such Private Roads, and to ensure safe passage of emergency vehicles, 
service vehicles, vendors vehicles, and other critical vehicles, and the safe passage of invitees and 
guests of residents who live along such Private Roads, the Town has determined that it is in the 
public interest that limited maintenance of such Private Roads is desirable and necessary. This 
ordinance shall govern the manner in which the Town may provide certain limited maintenance to 
such Private Roads.  

273-16  Private Roads approved for limited maintenance. 

A. The Public Works Department is authorized and directed to provide those limited maintenance 
services described in Section 273-17 of this chapter for those Private Roads as may be 
determined to require limited maintenance by the Town Council, as follows: 

ROAD NAME Length and Location 

Boulder Road 1150’ Lake Drive to terminus 
Brook Trail 635’ Pine Trail to terminus 
Byron Road 100’ Browning Drive to terminus 



Ordinance No. 2022.01 
Page 2 of 3 

Day Point Road 656’  Old Marlborough Road to 
pavement end 

Fern Lane 1585’ Middle Haddam Road to turn 
around 

Green Road 576’ Hog Hill to turn around 
Green Road 240’ Middle Haddam Road to turn 

around 
Hale Road 588’ Lake Drive to turn around 

Laurel Trail 341’ Pine Trail to driveway at #18 
Markham Lane 390’ East High Street to turn 

around 
Mountain Trail 535’ Pine Trail to driveway at #26 
O'Neill Lane 750’ Old Marlborough Road to turn 

around 
Park Road 161’ Poe Road to pavement end 
Pine Trail 1057’ East High Street to turn 

around 
Poe Road 155’  Byron Road to Park Road 

Railroad Avenue 725’ Watrous Street to turn around 
Spellman Point Road 1175’ Bay Road to the south 

Starr Place 467’ Summit Street to turn around 
Tennyson Road 529’ Mark Twain Drive to Whittier 

Road 
West Avenue 302’ West Street to driveway at 

#35 
 
B.  The Private Roads, or parts thereof, approved for maintenance shall be shown on a map which 

shall be available for public inspection in the town clerk's office. The Town Council may 
amend the list of approved Private Roads eligible for limited maintenance, by adding or 
removing such Private Roads from the list, in the manner prescribed in the Town Charter for 
the adoption of ordinances. 

273-17  Limited Maintenance services to be provided.  

A.  The maintenance services provided under section 273-16 of this chapter shall be limited to 
the following services as these services may be typically applied to similar public roads at the 
discretion of the Public Works Director:  
(1)   Snow plowing and deicing activities;  
(2)   Sweeping;  
(3)   Surface patching including, but not limited to, pothole repair and repairs involving 

surface repaving of small segments of a given roadway;  
(4)   Installation and maintenance of any “official traffic-control devices” and “traffic 

control sign” and which are approved by the “traffic authority” all as defined in Conn. 
Gen. Stat. 14-297.  

B.  The maintenance services provided under section 273-16 of this chapter are not intended to 
include broad resurfacing of large segments of a given roadway, improvements involving 



Ordinance No. 2022.01 
Page 3 of 3 

significant repairs of subsurface road structure, installation or modification of drainage, 
application of chip seal or other similar surface restoration applications to a full roadway or 
large segments of a given roadway or other similar reconstruction or rehabilitation activities 
unless such activities are specifically authorized by the Town Council as described in section 
273-17.C. 

C. Upon the request of the owners of, or those property owners abutting the Private Road, and if 
the town considers it necessary to public safety or otherwise desirable to provide additional 
work, services or improvements to the Private Roads listed in this ordinance, then such work, 
services or improvements may be provided by the town or its designees provided a written 
agreement is executed between the town and the owners of the land upon which the road rests, 
or which the road benefits, concerning the scope of such work, services or improvements, and 
shall be at the sole cost and expense of such owners. The town shall not provide any additional 
work, service or improvements unless the written agreement apportions costs among the 
owners of, or those property owners abutting, the Private Road.  

273-18  Acceptance for maintenance not to be construed as acceptance as public highway. 

Approval of a Private Road for the limited maintenance set forth in this ordinance, and/or 
approval of additional work, services, or improvements under section 273-17 of this chapter shall 
not be considered acceptance of that Private Road as a public highway.  

273-19  Liability of Town. 

Notwithstanding the provisions of C.G.S. § 13a-149 or any other general statute or special 
act, the Town of East Hampton shall not be liable for personal injury or property damage caused 
by the condition of a Private Road.  Nothing in this section shall insulate the Town of East 
Hampton from liability for its affirmative acts. 

273-20 Continued Validity of Street Standards. 

Nothing in this article shall be construed to modify or change any of the requirements set 
forth by the town planning and zoning commission, or the Town of East Hampton Street 
Standards, for the acceptance of new, and the maintenance and repair of existing, Town roads. 

Section 2: This ordinance is effective immediately upon its adoption and publication in 
accordance with Connecticut Statutes. 

Approved this ____ day of _____________, 2022. 

TOWN COUNCIL 

___________________________________ 
Mark Philhower, Chairperson 

ATTEST 

_________________________________ 
Kelly Bilodeau, Town Clerk

https://ecode360.com/28412178?highlight=sidewalks&searchId=9133004750216689#28412178


Office of the PLANNING & ZONING OFFICIAL 
JEREMY DECARLI, AICP 

jdecarli@easthamptonct.gov 

1 Community Drive, East Hampton, CT  06424   |   860.267.7450 tel    |   www.easthamptonct.gov 

MEMORANDUM 

To: David Cox, Town Manager 
Re: Sunrise Lane 
Date: April 7, 2022 

It has been determined that the original acceptance of Phase 1A of Skyline Estates, known as 
Sunrise Lane, failed to incorporate Sunrise Lane in its entirety due to the fact that the original 
Skyline Estates Phase 1 Map was referenced in both the acceptance of the road and the Warranty 
Deed from Skyline Estates, LLC to the Town for the road right of way, when in fact, the Skyline 
Estates – Phase II subdivision lengthened Sunrise Lane by approximately 65 feet. The effect of this 
oversight is that the Town owns a right of way which does not match the built conditions in the area 
of the cul-de-sac. 

The Town has worked with the attorney representing the developer to resolve this matter through 
the use of several deeds from private property owners and the developer to the Town as well as the 
filing of a new survey map (attached for reference as Exhibit B).  

At this time, the proposal is two-fold. First, the Town is asked to accept the new revised right of way 
through the action of accepting the transfer of four small portions of land, three from homeowners, 
and one from Skyline Estates. The acceptance, and subsequent filing of deeds will transfer the 
correct area of land under and surrounding the existing constructed road, cul-de-sac, and right-of-
way to the Town.  

The next action would be to abandon two small portions of road which were originally meant to act 
as right-of-way, but are no longer needed due to the revised location of the cul-de-sac. 

On the attached map, Exhibit B, prepared by Bascom & Benjamin, LLC, dated February 1, 2022, the 
areas notated as A, B, C, and D are those areas that are being recommended for acceptance, while 
those areas shown as E and F are suggested for abandonment and would transfer to the owners of 
Lots 9 and 7, respectively. See Exhibit A for the existing lot lines and built conditions. 

Agenda Item 7c



1"=47'

Sunrise Lane

The information depicted on this map is for planning purposes only.
It is not adequate for legal boundary definition, regulatory 
interpretation, or parcel-level analyses.

4/7/2022 11:41:49 AM

Scale is approximate
Scale:



SU
NRIS

E 

50.00'

CURVE DATA
D=42°35'56"
R=25.00'
L=18.59'

CURVE DATA
D=37°53'48"
R=50.00'
L=33.07'

CURVE DATA
D=55°46'16"
R=25.00'
L=24.33'

LANE

CURVE DATA
D=32°12'44"
R=225.00'
L=126.50'

N 53°43'49" W   227.28'

S 89°50'02" W
52.08'

S 14°26'59" E               80.85'

S 78°52'33" W   134.04'

CURVE DATA
D=97°01'03"
R=50.00'
L=84.66'

N 78°52'33" E             
  134.46' S 16°50'23" E

S 23°41'17" W
5.47'

45.73'

CURVE DATA
D=12°57'13"
R=275.00'
L=62.17'

CURVE DATA
D=80°45'53"
R=50.00'
L=70.48'

N 46°45'34" W   218.92'

N 48°58'28" E
    

    
    

    
269.25'

S 16°50'23" E               302.19'

LOT - 9
1.05± Ac.

45,828.2± S.F.

LOT - 8
1.03± Ac.

44,879.0± S.F.

LOT - 7
1.03± Ac.

44,759.4± S.F.

LOT - 17-81

LOT - 16-80

LOT - 15-79

S 78°19'24" E               178.57'

S 16°50'23" E               253.14'

S 
23

°4
1'

17
" W

   
22

6.
86

'

PARCEL - A

6,566.9± S.F.

LOT -10

LOT -11

LOT -6

LOT - 13

LOT - 14-78

253.34'

TOTAL

TOTAL C+F

TOTAL

TOTAL P+M

DRAINAGE EASEMENT

LEGEND
ORIGINAL PROPERTY LINE
STREET LINE
FOUND MONUMENT
CORNER TO BE SET

OPEN SPACE

SCALE IN FEET

LAKE

ROAD

CHAM
PION HILL

Islands
 Twin

CHRISTOPHER ROAD

M
AIN

.T
C

NORTH

DA
OR

FA
RM

M
ID

W
O

O
D

CL
AR

K

TIFFANY

HILL

NA

MLL
EPS

  Island
Scraggy

N

ROAD

RO
AD

SU
N

R
IS

E 
LA

N
E

SKYLINE   DRIVE

HIGHLAND TERRACE

ST
AR

VI
EW

 W
AY

731-07

NOT  VALID

AFFIXED  HEREON

EMBOSSED  SEAL

unless

SURVEYING and ENGINEERING CONSULTANTS
360 MAIN STREET     DURHAM, CONN  
TEL. (860) 349 - 1676

BASCOM     BENJAMIN, LLC&








This Survey and Map has been prepared in accordance with SECTIONS 20-300b-1 through
20-300b-20 of the REGULATIONS OF CONNECTICUT STATE AGENCIES
"Minimum Standards for Surveys and Maps in the State of Connecticut"
as endorsed by the Connecticut Association of Land Surveyors, Inc.

It is a PROPERTY SURVEY based upon a DEPENDENT RESURVEY conforming to
Horizontal Accuracy Class A-2 and is intended to be used to show the boundaries of
Lots 7,8,9, & Parcel-A.

This map is substantially correct to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Robert A. Bascom, L.S.   Conn. License #14,199

PROPERTY / BOUNDARY SURVEY
SHOWING

PREPARED FOR:

SKYLINE ESTATES, LLC

SUNRISE LANE

EAST HAMPTON, CONNECTICUT
SCALE: 1"=30 FT.------01-FEB.-2022

LOTS 7,8,9, & PARCEL-A

I. EAST HAMPTON LAND RECORDS
A. DEED TYPE   VOL:PG         DATE

1. Skyline Estates, LLC QC     417:597      6 Jan. 2005
2. Toomey, A. & Deangelo, B.        W       611:022     11 Nov. 2020      LOT - 9
3. Gauck, K.R. & M. W       595:771     2 July 2019         LOT - 8
4. Plante, L.A. & K.A. Jr. W       566:324     23 June 2016      LOT - 7

B. MAPS
1. Subdivision Layout Plan, Skyline Estates, a Residential subdivision, Clark Hill Road and

Midwood Farm Road, East Hampton, Connecticut, Scale: 1"=40', Date: 12-16-05, revised 5-18-07
Sheet SP-3, By: The LRC Group, Surveyor Gregory F. Warren.

2. Subdivision Plan-3, Skyline Estates - Phase II a residential subdivision, prepared for Old Clark Hill, LLC,
for property located at Old Clark Hill Road, Highland Terrace, & Sunrise Lane, Town of East Hampton
Connecticut, Scale: 1"=40', Date: December, 2006, revised to 6-4-07, Sheet 7 of 23,
By: Chatham Engineering, Inc., Surveyor Gregory F. Warren.

REVISED: 09 FEB. 2022

Area B

Parcel A

Area A

Area D

Area C

Area E

Area F



Agenda Item 9a







































Agenda Item 12



BOARD AND COMMISSION SUMMARY 
MARCH 2022 

Arts & Culture Commission 
The Arts & Culture Commission met on March 17 at the Joseph N. Goff House.  A grant proposal 
from Aidan Maiorino was reviewed.  The members discussed the garden tour/plein air painting event 
to determine if the Belltown Garden Club is interested in co-hosting.  The Rotary Club painted bells 
were discussed.  They would like to spotlight a bell online each week and schedule a tour of the bell 
locations.  The budget request was submitted for review for the next fiscal year.  The members also 
discussed a tour of the town art purchases.  They have also approached the new Poet Laureate Stan 
Lindh for several activities. 

Board of Finance 
In lieu of the Regular March Meeting of the Board of Finance, the Budget Public Hearing took place 
on March 21. Budget Workshops followed March 22-26. The deliberation meeting scheduled for 
March 30 was cancelled with a Special Meeting taking place on March 31 where the BOF members 
were given a technology tour of the Middle School and Center School. Budget Deliberation is 
scheduled for April 6, 2022.     

Brownfields Redevelopment Agency 
The Brownfields Redevelopment Agency met on March 28 at the Town Hall and via Zoom. The 
members discussed the 1-2 year plan for the 3 Walnut property. The members need to find the missing 
documents that shows the work performed for the project. There is a dam on the property that needs 
to be investigated since there are no reports or documents stating when the dam was constructed. The 
members need to find out if the dam is historic. There was discussion on the 1 and 13 Watrous and 13 
Summit properties as well. The members decided to apply for the TAB, Technical Assistance on 
Brownfields, program at UCONN to gain some help. The timeframe for that program is May 15th to 
July 15th. The application deadline for the program is April 15th. The members discussed which grants 
the agency should focus on and apply for this year. An investigation grant was mentioned that could 
help find information on the dam at 3 Walnut. Remediation grants are the other ones the members will 
be focusing on and looking for this year as well. Two webinars on Brownfields are coming up; one is 
on March 30th and the other is on April 21st.  

Clean Energy Task Force 
The Clean Energy Task Force met on March 1 at the Town Hall.  A presentation was given by Heat 
Smart.  The members discussed Earthlight and solar possibilities for the town. Members discussed the 
heat pump and home energy solutions programs.  The Chair and Vice Chair met with the Town 
Manager and will be meeting with the Town department heads regarding Sustainable CT.  The next 
Electric Car Show will be held on September 24th at the High School. 

Commission on Aging 
The Commission on Aging met on March 10 via Zoom.  The members reviewed information from one 
of the sub-committees for the review of the Survey results. The others will present at the next meeting. 
The commission is planning presentations of the survey results at the Senior Center and to the Lions 
Club. 

Agenda Item 14a



Conservation-Lake Commission 
The Conservation-Lake Commission met on March 10th at the Town Hall and via Zoom. The members 
received updates from the liaisons and about the watershed projects/ federal funding. Tom Warmuth 
and Dave Finethy joined the call for the presentation from BioSafe Systems about different in-lake 
treatments for blue-green algae/ cyanobacteria levels in the lake water. The members have some time 
to think and research about the chemical treatments that were presented to them by the representatives. 
There were updates for the Lake Smart program and the advisory panel meeting. A Friends of the Lake 
representative spoke to the commission about incorporating the Lake Smart program into their grant 
funding program for the year. They budgeted $5,000 with up to $150 per house. Once the property has 
been evaluated the homeowners can apply for funding from the organization’s grant to help pay for 
the Lake Smart changes to their property.  
 
Design Review Board 
The Design Review Board met on March 17 via Zoom.  The members reviewed and discussed the 
plans for a site plan modification at 20 East High Street for the old Town Hall building. There needs 
to be elevation views from all sides of the building/ property, more detailed plans, landscaping plans, 
elevation and grading plans, and samples of materials being used be brought back to the members to 
be further reviewed. The members also discussed the possibility of going back to in-person meetings 
for all boards and commissions. The owners of the gas station in the Village Center were sent a letter 
about their sign canopy by the Zoning Official Mr. DeCarli. There should be more information at the 
next meeting. 
 
Economic Development Commission 
The Economic Development Commission met on March 15 at the Town Hall and via Zoom.  The 
members reviewed the plans for the Global 66 project and scored the applicant as the members 
discussed each aspect of the application and scoring form. They awarded the project a score of 47 
points. The forms and scoring will be submitted to the Town Council for review and deciding vote. 
The members reviewed and discussed the 2022/2023 town budget, the Bells on the Bridge event, the 
project tracker, the sewer smell in the Village Center businesses, and the motions and minutes from 
the last Planning and Zoning meeting. The new Board of Finance liaison will be Ted Turner. 
 
Fire Commission 
The Fire Commission met on March 14 at the Company #1 Firehouse. The members approved the 
purchase of two strainers for the tankers not to exceed $2,500 from account 5658. The Fire Chief and 
Fire Marshal read their reports for the members. There were updates for the dry hydrants, the Ladder 
truck, the new Tanker, and the awards program. The members discussed briefly sending a letter to the 
Board of Education to make sure they call the Fire Department when there is smoke within the building 
and to follow proper fire procedures when an incident like this occurs again.  
 
Inland Wetlands Watercourses Agency 
The Inland Wetlands Watercourses Agency met on March 30 at the Town Hall and via Zoom. 
Continued Applications: 

A. Application IW-21-026: William Carter, 23 Bay Road - Construct seawall along Lake 
Pocotopaug and regrade yard area. Map 09A/ Block 70/ Lot 23 - Continued.  

New Applications: 
A. IW-22-002: Heath Marozzi – 59 East High Street, Replace existing walkway, construct 

retaining wall, replace entry steps, relocate shed, and extend driveway (approximately 550 sq. 
ft. of disturbance) within the Upland Review Area – Map 05A/ Block 83/ Lot 27 – Continued. 



B. IW-22-003: Roseanne and Chris Scacca, 45 Lake Dr. LLC – 45 Lake Drive, installation of new 
processed gravel driveway (approximate 1600 s.f.) within the Upland Review Area. – Map 
03A/ Block 44C/ Lot 10 – Continued. 

C. IW-22-004: Ed Basile – 53 Day Point Road, demolition of existing cottage (396 s.f.) in Upland 
Review Area – Map 10A/ Block 83/ Lot 36A – Continued. 

 
Joint Facilities 
The Colchester –East Hampton Joint Facilities Board met on February 15 via Zoom.  The lighting 
upgrade is 95% complete. The DO probes have some wiring issues along with the conduit throughout 
the aeration tanks from the mixer to the recycle pumps. Cost estimate is $30K-$40K.  An Infrared 
survey was done on the plant and Middletown Avenue Pump Station (MAPS). The MAPS RFQ is 
pending schedule dates, to coordinate with Mr. Clayton’s time off.  
 
Library Advisory Board 
The Library Advisory Board met on March 7 via Zoom.  The budget request was sent to the Finance 
Department. Mr. Cox will be conducting another interview with the final candidate for the Library 
Director position on March 9.  The Kindness Grant project was reviewed. 
 
Middle Haddam Historic District Commission 
No meeting 
  
Parks & Recreation Advisory Board 
The Parks & Recreation Advisory Board met on March 1 at the Town Hall and via Zoom.  A 
presentation was given on the Needs Analysis survey from Berry Dunn (formerly Greenplay).  The 
job description for the new Full Time Program Manager was approved.  The Air Line Trail Sub-
Committee provided an update on trail cleanup day in April.  The Seamster Park Golf Tournament 
will be held on May 19.  The High School track and tennis court project should be complete in May. 
The budget and capital requests were reviewed. 
 
Planning & Zoning Commission 
The Planning & Zoning Commission met on March 2 at the Town Hall and via Zoom. 
Public Hearings:  

A. Amendment to Zoning Regulations - Sections 2.2, 4.1.B, 4.2.B, 4.3.B, 4.4.B and Addition of 
Section 8.4.O and 8.4.P to allow for Home Occupations and Home-Based Businesses.  Mr. 
Rux made a motion to approve the Amendments to the Zoning Regulations. Ms. Wright 
seconded the motion. Vote: 7-0  

B. Enact Opt-Out Provision for Accessory Dwelling Units as Provided for in Section 6(f) of 
Public Act 21-29. Mr. Rux made a motion to enact the opt-out provision regarding ADUs. Mr. 
Sennett seconded the motion. Vote: 6-1 (Hintz)  

New Business:  
A. PZC-22-001: Josh Pavano, 19 Day Point Road for Detached ADU pursuant to Section 8.4.M 

in existing accessory structure, Map 10A/Block 83/ Lot 29 Chairman Zatorski made a motion 
to schedule a Public Hearing for April 6. Mr. Rux seconded the motion. Vote: 7-0  

B. PZC-22-002: Twenty High, LLC for Site Plan Modification to demolish existing accessory 
building (former Building Dept. structure) in C Zone. – Map 05A/ Block 62/ Lot 5A. Mr. Rux 
made a motion to approve the site plan modification. Mr. Tammaro seconded the motion. Vote: 
7-0 

 



Water Pollution Control Authority  
The East Hampton WPCA Board met on February 1 via Zoom. The Board approved the 2022/23 
WPCA Operating Budget, totaling $ 1,878,993.80. Vote: 6-0. Mr. Clayton reported on the odor 
problem in Village Center and the discussion with Colchester to rectify the issue.   
 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
The Zoning Board of Appeals met on March 14 at the Town Hall and via Zoom. 
Election of Officers: 

A. Mr. Tuttle nominated Mr. Spack as Chairman. Mrs. Jacobson seconded the motion. Vote: 5-0. 
B. Mr. Tuttle nominated Mr. Reed as Vice Chairman. Mr. Pfaffenbach seconded the motion. 

Vote: 5-0. 
 
Public Hearings:  

A. Application ZBA-22-001: Twenty High, LLC, 20 East High Street for a variance to increase 
lot coverage from 75.5% to 85% in C Zone – Map 05A/Block 62/ Lot 5A.  Mr. Pfaffenbach 
made a motion to approve the variance. Mrs. Jacobson seconded the motion. Vote: 5-0.  

 
New Business:  

A. Application ZBA-22-002: Atlantis Marketing, 1 Colchester Ave., 5 Colchester Ave. and 157 
Main St for a variance to increase lot coverage from 30.4% to 36.9% and reconstruction and 
expansion of legal non-conforming uses in the R-2 Zone. Map 7A/ Block 56/ Lots 22, 21, and 
24.  Mr. Tuttle made a motion to set a Public Hearing for April 11, 2022. Mr. Reed seconded 
the motion. Vote: 5-0. 




